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WISE, Presiding Judge.

The appellant, David Dwayne Riley, Jr., was ccnvicted of
capital murder for the killing of Scott Michael Kirtley. The
murder was made caplital because he committed it during the

course of a first-degree robbery or an attempt thereof, a
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violation of § 13A-5-40(a})(2), Ala. Code 1975. The Jury
unanimously recommended that Riley be sentenced to death. The
trial court followed the jury's recommendation and sentenced
him to death. Riley filed a motion for a new trial, which the
trial court summarily denied. This appeal followed.

Because this is a case in which the death penalty has
been imposed, we have reviewed it for plain error. See Rule
45A, Ala. R. App. P. Although the lack of an objection at
trial will not bar our review of an issue in a case involving

the death penalty, it will weigh against any claim of

prejudice Riley may ralse. See Ex parte Kennedy, 472 So. 2d

1106 (Ala. 1985). Rule 457, Ala. R. 2Zpp. P., provides:

"In all cases 1in which the death penzalty has
been imposed, the Court o¢f Criminal Appeals shall
notice any plain error or defect in the prcceedings

under review ... whenever such error has or probably
has adversely affected the substantial right of the
appellant.”

"[This] plain-error exception Lo the contemporaneous-cbjection
rule is te ke 'used sparingly, sclely in those circumstances
in which a miscarriage of justice would otherwise result.'"

United States v. Young, 470 U.3. 1, 15, 105 S, Ct. 1038, 1046,

84 .. BEd. 2d 1 (1985) ({(quoting United States v, Frady, 456
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U.S.

152, 1632 n.14, 102 5. Ct. 1584, 1592 n.14, 71 L. Ed.

816 n.14 (1982)).

2d

The following summary of the relevant facts, as prepared

by the trial court, may be helpful to an understanding cof this

case:

"Themas Newbern, the State's first witness,
testified he went to the Dandy's Package Store
Number Two located on Hichway 72 1in Lauderdale
County, Alabama at approximately 7:30 p.m. on
January 10, 2005. Another customer was walting to
be served but there was nce clerk toe accept payment.
Mr. Newbern went to the back of the store to find
the clerk and discovered Che body of Scott Michael
Kirtley with obvious major trauma to his head. Mr.
Newbern found a cordless phone behind the counter
and called the 911 operator.

"Lisa Etienne, the keeper of the records for the
911 system, testified that Mr. Newbern's call was
received at 7:49 p.m.

"Suzanna Taylor, an investigator for the City of
Florence Police Department, testified that she
responded to the scene and identified for the jury
a crime scene video and numerous pictures which were
taken by law enforcement personnel. There were a
total of three cameras attached Lo recording devices
in the package store at the time of the murder. The
Capes from two of the recorders had been removed but
the third camera and recorder was operating when law
enforcement arrived,

"Jackle Beaver, tLhe owner of Dandy's Package
Stores Number One and Two, testified that she had
operated the package stores for about twenty-two
vears and that Scott Michael Kirtley was emploved as
a clerk., He had been working at the store for
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approximately two vears. On the day in guestion Mr.
Kirtley began his shift at 4:00 p.m. and was
scheduled to work until closing at 11:00 p.m. She
went to the store when she heard that something had
happened and identified the body of Mr. Kirtley.
She testified that the stcre had three functioning
cameras recording the events in the store 24 hours
each day. The one camera that was still operating
at the store when officers arrived had only been
functioning since the Friday before this murder on
Monday. After checking the register and the
inventory she determined that $459.17 had been
stolen along with two bottles of liquor and some
Newport brand cigarettes.

"Officer Bennie Johnson, of the Florence Police
Department, was on duty and responded to the scene.
When he arrived other officers were reviewing the
tape recording of the robbery made by the one camera
system that still had a tape 1in 1t when they
arrived. The decision was made to make copies of
the tape and distribute them to the local media and
to ask for the public to help identify the robber
shown in the video. Officer Johnscn tock the tape
to the local newspaper office to have it duplicated.
Later, after receiving information from the public,
he went to the home of Mr. Dewon Jones and collected
a pistol from Mr. Jcones' closet and twoe magazines
for the gun from a drawer,

"Reginald Owens, who lives in the wvicinity of
the package store, testified that he saw the
defendant on the day 1In guestion between fifteen
minutes until elight c¢'clock and eight o'clock. They
spoke for a few minutes and the defendant walked
away. The defendant was polite and calm. TLater Mr,
Owens gave police permissicon to search a tree house
in his backyard.

"Officer Eric Pollard collected evidence from
Mr. Owens' tree hcuse. Officer Follard found two
videco tapes from the package store, two bottles of
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liquor and one bullet. Officers had responded to
the Owens' house because of informaticn given to
them by Mr. Owens' son. The videos were the tapes

from the package store and when played clearly
showed this defendant approach the counter and pull
a gun on Mr, Kirtley. Mr. Kirtley fully ccoperated
with Mr. Riley by putting all money from the
register in a paper bag along with two bottles of
liquor and Newport cigarettes. During the robbery
a customer arrived. Mr ., Riley backed away,
instructed Mr. Kirtley to 'make the sale' to that
customer and hid the gun. While Mr. Kirtley was
walting on that customer Mr. Riley calmly counted
the money. After the customer departed, the
defendant ordered Mr. Kirtley to go to the back of
the store, beyond the range of the video cameras,
The audio portion of the tape records a gunshot, a
scream, a pause, a seccnd gunshot, a pause and a
third gunshot. Mr. Riley is then seen collecting
the paper bag containing the money, liguor and
cigarettes and taking the tapes from two of the
three video recorders. The videcs also show that
the defendant had been in the store earlier in the
evening to purchase two soft drinks and show the
defendant locking in the direction ¢f the twoe store
cameras whose tapes were taken after the murder.

"Officer Chuck Hearn and two other Florence
Police officers went to the defendant's house in an
unmarked patrol car. Defendant ran toward the car
and the officers arrested him. Mr. Riley told them
he misteok their car for that of a friend coming to
pick him up.

"Doctor Adam Craig, medical examiner, testified
that wupon examining the body of Mr, Kirtley he
determined that he had been shot three times 1in the

head. One shot was to the right side of Mr.
Kirtley's head and was a contact wound. Two shots
were Lo the left side of the head and were fired
from clcose range. Any one of the shots would have
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been fatal but Dr. Craig could not tell which shot
was first.

"Amanda Davenporl, age seventeen, Lestified that
the defendant and Mr. Dewon Jones came to her house
on Lhe day in gquestion around 5:15 p.m. and stayed
for approximately thirty minutes. Mr. Jones was in
possessicn of a pistel. Mr., Riley did ncot appear Lo
be under the influence of any intoxicant.

"Doug Sanderfer Jr., a friend of the defendant,
testified that he saw Mr., Riley and Mr., Jones
between 4:30 p.m. and 5:00 p.m. on January 10th.
Mr., Riley told Mr. Sanderfer that he needed money Lo
pay his child support. Mr. Riley did not appear to
be under the influence o¢f any intoxicant at that
time but he acknowledged that the defendant 1is a
frequent user of 1llegal substances. After he heard
about the shooting at the package store, Mr.
Sanderfer called the defendant. The defendant told
Mr. Sanderfer that he had committed the robbery,
that a customer had interrupted the robbery, that he
took the clerk to the back of the store and that he
had shet him. Mr., Riley asked Mr. Sanderfer Lo come
to his house and pick him up. After the phone
conversation, Mr. Sanderfer decided not to go to Mr,
Riley's house.

"The defendant testified in his own behalf.
Outside the presence of the jury he acknowledged to
the Court that he understood that he had a right to
testify if he wished and a right not to testify 1f
he wished not to. He further acknowledged that his
atterneys had advised him not te testify but that he
wished to testify anvway. Mr. Riley told the jury
that he committed the robbery to get money to pay a
drug debt to Mr. Jones but that he had no intention
of killing the clerk, He directed Mr. Kirtley to
the back of the store tce leck him in the back room
but when Mr, Kirtley turned arcund quickly Mr. Riley
feared Mr. Kirtley was golng to hit him. In
response to Mr. Kirtley's actions Mr. Riley sald he
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struck Mr. Kirtley with the gun and it fired. Mr.

Riley said his sars began to ring and he remembers

nothing thereafter. Mr. Riley claimed tc ke under

the Iinfluence of cocaine that he ingested shertly

before the murder.”
(C.R. 221-26.)

The following evidence may also be helpful to an
understanding of this case:

In addition to the testimony set forth above, Sanderfer
alsc testified that, when he saw Riley and Jones on the
afternoon of January 10, 2005, Riley started to talk to him
and to tell him something, but Jones told him to be guiet.
When he talked to Riley later that night, Riley told him that
he shot the victim once, that the victim was screaming, that
he shot the victim a second and a third time, and that it was
done. He further testified that Riley said he did not know
why he shot the victim,

Additionally, Sanderfer testified that, at one time, he
had cwned the gun that was recovered frcom Jones. He explained
that the gun had a defect and that he had to work with the gun
each time he put a cartridge in the chamber. Finally, he

stated that, approximately two weeks before the murder, Riley

had helped him sell the gun to Jones.
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The State also introduced recordings of several telephone
calls Riley made while he was 1n 7jalil after the offense.
During one conversation, Riley told a friend that somecne
wanted the money he had borrowed from him and that he did not
have a choice. Also, on January 13, 2005, during a
conversation with his stepmother, Riley made the statement
that one tape is what screwed everything up for him. Finally,
during a conversation on January 19, 2005, Riley tcld his
brother to tell Sanderfer that he 1is not the one who 1is
snitching, that Jones 1s, and that he 1s trying to get in
touch with him so they have the same story and don't get "f---
-— up together"; to tell Sanderfer that he needs to know if
Sanderfer is a punk or they are both going to get "f----- up"
because he doesn't know what has been said; and to tell
Sanderfer that he can play dumb all day, but will have to say
something eventually. He alsc told his kbrother to tell Amanda
Davenport to step running her mouth and that, if she does not
say what was really said, she could tell them that Jones was
the one talking "the s---" and that he was telling him that he

did not really want to do it.
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Riley testified on his own behalf regarding the events
that occurred on January 10, 2005. He testified that his
mother had taken him to a couple of job interviews that day
and that, during that time, Jones had telephconed him. Riley
explained that he owed Jones some money and that he knew Jcnes
wanted it. He spoke to Jones briefly and told him he would
call him back.

Riley testified that he telephoned Jones that afterncon
and told Jones they ccould get together to talk. Afterward,
they walked around the neighborhood, stopped at Amanda
Davenport's house, and stopped at Jones's friend's house.
Riley admitted that he had used drugs on a regular basis. He
testified that Jones had been giving him drugs and that he had
$20 or $30 and offered to give it to Jones toward what he owed
him, but that Jones wanted more. He stated that Jones kept
talking about robbing a store and that he tried to make
excuses, but that "one thing [led] to ancther and [he] had no
other choice but tce go intce this store.m (R. 701.) With
regard to the rokkery at Dandv's, Riley stated:

"Tt was a last minute call but it was pushed on to

me to get some money that T owed so0, yes, 1t was
kind of planned."
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(BE. ©96.) He also stated that he was strung out at the time
of the incident and that, in fact, he "had just took a hit
before walking in that door." (R. 6%8.)

Riley testified that he went into the store and was under
the influence of drugs and was nervous. He alsc testified
that Jones was supposed to wait outside and telephone his
cellular telephone if anyone drove up. However, Jones did not
do that, and another customer came intc the store during the
robbery. Regarding shcooting the victim, Riley testified:

"T took Mr. Kirtley back there in that store to
lock him in a room, Not te hurt him. T had no
intentions to hurt this man. I wanted him out of
the room so he ccouldn't see which way I went and
couldn't call the police right then. I wculd have
extra time te get away. And as we was walking into
that room, he turned around and caught me off guard
and T went to hit him. T had -- T'm left handed so
as I went to hit him, the gun went off and that's
pretty much all T can remember because Lhal scared
me that the gun went off, and then T seen him fall
and then my mind just kind of goes off into a blur,
you know, panic and I'm high."

(R. 702.) He alsc testified that the victim made a move as 1if
to hit him, that he swung reflexively to hit the victim and
did not think about the fact that he was holding the gun, that

the gun went off, that his ears started ringing after the

first shot, that he was high on c¢rack cocaine, that his mind

10
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went bklank, and that he did not remember anything else until
he woke up in a jail cell the next morning.

Riley testified that he did not intend to pull the
trigger on the gun, that he and Jones never planned to harm or
kill the victim, and that Jones actually had to remind him to
take the gun into the store. He also testified that, even
during the robbery, he never thought about killing the victim.
Finally, he repeatedly stated that he was sorry and that he
did not intend to kill the victim.

On cross—-examination, the State immediately asked Riley
if he was a liar and 1f he was lying to the jury; 1f he was
really sorry or 1f, instead, he was prcud of being famcus
based on comments he had made during a telephcne call from his
Jail cell; if he did not intend for the killing to happen; and
1T he was Cruly remorseful., It also guestioned his Cestimony
that he only intended to put the victim iIn the kack and then
to run away, his testimony that the victim turned and was shot
accidentally, his testimony akbout the location of the gun and
the number of times it fired, and his testimony that he did

not remember anything after the first shot.

11
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The State guestioned Riley about why he went into the
store before the robbery and suggested that he was loocking to
see where the videocameras were located. It also questiconed
Riley about his testimceny that he did not intend te kill the
victim. Riley did not deny shooting the victim three times,
but insisted that it was not on purpose and that he did not
remember the second and third shots. After Riley stated that
he took the wvictim to the back to lock him in a room, the
prosecutor stated: "You took him back there to execute him
and vou just know that vyou can't tell this Jjury that because
it's capital murder." {R. 720.) The prosecutor zalso
gquestioned Riley about the time between the three shots and
the statement he made to Sanderfer about the shcoting, and
Riley again stated that he could not remember anything after
the first shot.

The prosecutor guestioned Riley about seemingly
inceonsistent statements he had previcusly made akout the
offense. He also guestioned Riley about his testimony about
head injuries and abcut his mental health history. During

that questioning, the following occurred:

12
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"[PROSECUTCR:] You'we never even seen a mental
health professional for CLreatment of any kind, have
vou?

"[RILEY:] When I was on juvenile prokation T
was supposed Lo see some but they never did send me,
sir.

"[PROSECUTCR:] David Riley wasn't going to do
what the authorities told him to do, did you?

"IRILEY: | IT'm sorry.

"[PROSECUTOR: ] They tried Lo help you in the
Juvenile court system and vou Just wouldn't let
Chem?

"[RILEY:] ©No, sir. They were supposed Lo send
me to a doctor but they instead sent me to a boot
camp."

(R. 724.}
Finally, the following cccurred during the State's cross-
examination of Riley:

"[PROSECUTOR: | IT'm saying the truth to you,
sir, 1s whatever you need Lo say at the time to try
to save yourself?

"[RILEY:] Sir, TI've been truthful, T owed
Dewon some money. He left me no cholce but to go
inte that store and get the money. T went to get
the money with nc iIntention to hurt Mr. Kirtley. I
can't make you believe that. T can't,.

"[PROSECUTOR: ] You sure can't,
"[RILEY:] That's the truth.
"[PROSECUTOR: | Tt's not the truth,.

13
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"IRILEY:] I'm sorry.

"[PROSECUTOR:] You're a convicted felon, aren't
you?

"[RILEY:] Yes, sir. T been took to trial since
I've been arrested, vyes, sir.

"[PROSECUTOR:] You were convicted of burglary
and you are convicted of theft in the second degree,
right?

"[RILEY:] Yes, sir.

"[PROSECUTCR: ] Yet vyou want this Jury to
believe what you're saying in the face of all this

overwhelming evidence 1s to the contrary.

"[RILEY:] $Sir, that case has nothing to do with
this case."

(R, 727-28.)

On redirect examination, Riley testified that he had used
cocaline, crack, and marijuana on the day the Iincident
occurred. He also stated that he had taken a hit of crack
Jjust before he went into the store and that, when he went into
the store, he was high and his mind was racing and was notb
really focusing. Riley testified that cocaine makes a person
do things he would nct normally do and affects his ability to
make raticnal decisicns. He alsc reiterated that he did not
intend to harm or kill the victim, that the victim surprised

him when he turned arcund, that he reacted reflexively, that

14
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the gun went off, that he did not remember anything else, and
that he was sorry for what happened.

On re-cross—examination, the State guestioned Riley about
whether his motive for taking the money was to pay off Jones
or to get money to buy more drugs and about what he did with
the money he tock from the store. It also gquestioned him
about the two video recordings he took from the store and the
location of the blood spatter in the store.

During his closing argument, the prosecutor noted that
the only argument the defense raised at trial was that Riley
did not intend to kill the wictim. He also argued that the
killing had to be intentional because Riley fired three shcts
to the victim's head. Finally, he argued that the video and
audio recordings were "inconsistent with what he's trving to
sell to ycu today." (R. 746.)

During his closing argument, defense counsel argued that
Riley's mind was messed up and was not working properly on the
night the offense occurred. To support his argument, he
pointed to Sanderfer's testimony akout his conversation kbeing
all screwed up and Riley being deluded; the fact that Riley

left a video recording in the store; and testimony that Riley

15
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ran toward officers when they went to his house to arrest him.
Defense counsel also argued that the gun Riley had was unsafe
and unreliable because it did not work properly and that the
location of the gunshot wounds and the position of the body
supported Riley's testimony that the shooting was not
intenticonal but was accidental.

During his rebuttal closing argument, the prosecutor
argued:

"You know, people accepting responsibility for
what they've done, T mean, not accepting
responsibility for what they've done 1s a major
preblem in cur country today. The criminal justice
system 1s criticized. We're not doing something
about it when something like this happens. What are
we golng to do about 1t? Well, manslaughter.
Everybody go home. Sorry about it. That's it. It
does not get any worse than this case. The facts
don't get any worse and you can see that, and T
respect [defense counsel] as a lawyer. He's done a
fine Jjocb but he's dealing with very difficult facts
that he's somehow Crying to say somebody with common
sense, you have to check it at the docr tc go with
what thevy're saying.

"When he first says -- well, the thing abcut
what they're saying -- the thing that I'm so
thankful about is that we do have video sc¢ these are
things that they could say and could try to de if
there was no video, but there 1s. And watch it.
Watch it again if you have some question about 1t,
all this stuff. And he's high. He's a whacked ocut,
drug addict junkile.

16
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"Well that night vyou saw 1t. I've seen the
video. TIf he was some whacked out Junkie and
somebody comes 1n there and interrupts a robbery in
pregress, is he going to have the wits about him to
step back calmly, put that gun away so the guy
doesn't see 1t and start counting the money? That's
on the video. He had the opportunity right then to
run oubt ¢f that store. Scmething has gone wrong. The
lookout has messed up for me. I've got to get out of
here. He chose Lo do something else and now he says
I'm scrry. I'm scrry. What did he say when he's
talking to his cousin on the phone in jail? Let's
hear that clip.

"(Jalil phone call played)

"Yes, that's remorse. They want to say again
that we don't know what happened back in that back
room. We know they only had three videos in a small
ligquor store. They didn't put one in the back room
but vou can hear what happened and, you know, again
T respect the way this man has tried this case. But
for him to say -- for him to try to tell ycu that
Scott Kirtley did not suffer -- you heard it. T
have watched that tape many times and I cannot watch
it without -- it Just sends chills through me to
hear him die. T mean, it's just -- it's awful.

"Common sense., Listen to it again if you -- 1if
there's any guestion in your mind about it. What
did his friend say he salid the night it happened?
Tt's funny to me -- net  funny. But 1It's
interesting. I'm going toe get on the stand and tell
yvou the truth but when he's confronted with facts
that he can't explain, what doess he do? I den't
remember that. T deoen't know what happened. T don't
remember. He can remember smoking dope, smoking
this, doing this, going here, doing all this stuff
but when he's 1n there intentlionally executing the
man, and he can't explain,. T don't know what
happened.

17
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"and they want to say, well, that was
unintenticnal? T mean what did he de? TIf this was
unintentional, agaln he was so high he didn't know
what he was doing. What would he have done next?
I guess he would've run out of the store 1if that's
-- this 1s some oops bul what did he do? Again the
video. Goal driven behavior. He has killed the
only live witness Lo his crime and now what does he
do? He gets the wvideotapes and flees with them.
Steres them up in a tLree house. He thinks he's
gotten away with it,.

"You heard what Jackie Beavers salid. The video
he left there wasn't even working until Friday, the
4th. They -- 1f they were casing it. He thought he
had gotten away with 1t so what does he try to do?
He tries to lie to the police when they pick him up
and they take him down t¢ the police station. He
doesn't know that they have seen the wvideo. He
thinks he can shoot bull his way through that.
Watch that tape. He ain't some foaming at the mcuth
drug addict. He's in there tLrying toe BS the police.
I was cut walking around, all that kind of stuff
when Randy England says don't BS me. We know what
vou've done, vou know, I've got vyou. And Randy
tells him peint by point what's on that video. The
gig 1s up for him.

"Capltal murder. What does he say to his mother
about it in this Jail recording?

"(Jall pheone call played)

"That o¢ne tape screwed the whole thing up for
him. You can see that. Common sense. Use it. We
want you te use it. They want Lo say that there's
not any evidence that he shet this man while he was
down. There's not any evidence that he shceot him
while he was up. If there's scme criticism of our
police department for not hosing down the place with
luminol or they didn't do a wvalid enough search of
this c¢rime scene, watch the c¢rime scene video

18
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meticulously going through there locking, showing
you the absence of anything other than 17 inches and
below in that little closet; that's significant, the
absence of something that they say should be there.

We want vou to consider that when you do —-—- when you
lock at that. TIt's obvicus what your verdict should
be.

"And they talk about sympathy. We're

sympathetic. What they're tLrying te do 1s generate
sympathy for this guy is what they want to do. Pcor
David., TtL's a Lragedy. This 1s an intentiocnal
killing that he caused. If vou have any sympathy
for him you should check that at the door.

"We tried to help this gquy. He said I'm in
Juvenile court. Yeah, we tried to rechabilitate him.
Didn't work., That's what's wrong with our system
that people criticize and vyou have the power and the
authority to do something about 1t, and you should.™

(R. 759-64) (emphasis added}). Finally, he argued that Riley
intentionally shot the wvictim and that, in making his
statement Lo law enforcement officers and 1n testifying In
court, Riley "tried t¢ BS his way through." (R. 764.)
Afterward, the trial court gave i1ts instructicns to the
Jury. During its oral charge, the trial court Iinstructed on
the lesser included offenses of felony-murder, intentional
murder, and reckless manslaughter, Tt also instructed the
Jury on voluntary intoxication. The trial court did not, at

any time, Instruct the Jjury as to the purposes for which 1t

19
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could and could not consider evidence about Riley's prior
convictions.

Riley argues that the trial court erred because it did
not instruct the Jjury that it could consider evidence about
his prior convictions only for impeachment purposes and not as
substantive evidence ¢f guilt. In an interrelated argument,
he alsc contends that the prosecutor improperly impeached him
with evidence about juvenile adjudications. However, he did
not first present these arguments to the trial court.
Therefore, we review them for plain error. See Rule 45A, Ala.
R. App. P.

With regard to impeachment by evidence of conviction of
a crime, Rule 609, Ala. R. Evid., provides, in relevant part:

"(a) General Rule. For the purpose of attacking
the credibility of a witness,

"(1) (A) evidence that a witness other
than an accused has been convicted c¢f a
crime shall be admitted, subject to Rule
403, 1f the crime was punishable by death
or lmprisonment in excess of cne year under
the law under which the witness was
convicted, and

"(B) evidence that an accused has
been convicted ¢f such a crime shall be
admitted 1if the court determines that the
prokative value of admitting this evidence

20
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outweighs its prejudicial effect to the
accused. ...

"

"(d) Juvenile or vouthful offender
adjudications. Evidence of Jjuvenile or vyouthful
offender adjudications 1s nol admissible under this
rule."

Alsc, regarding evidence that 1s admitted for Ilimited
purposes, Rule 105, Ala. R. Evid., provides:

"When evidence which 1is admissible as to one
party or for one purpcse bubt not admissible as to
another party or for another purpose 1s admitted,
the court, upon request, shall restrict the evidence
to its proper scope and instruct the jury
accordingly."”

In Ex parte Minor, 780 So. 2d 796 (Ala. 2000), Minor was

convicted o¢f capital murder of a victim who was less Lhan
fourteen years c¢f age and sentenced tCo death for the killing
of his twe-month-old son, Eblous Jennings. AL trial, his
defense was that he did not cause the injuries that resulted
in the victim's death. During direct examination by defense
counsel, Minor admitted that he had prior convictlions for
second-degree assault, unlawful possession of cocaine, and
second-degree rape and that he had escaped from the county
Jail while he was awalting trial on the capital murder charge.

On cross—examinabion, he admitted that he had made several

21
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inconsistent statements about the incident, but contended that
he did so to get released on bond and to protect the victim's
mother.

After this court affirmed Minor's conviction, he
petitioned the Alabama Supreme Court for review, arguing "that
the trial court committed reversible error in failing to
properly instruct the jury regarding his prior convicticns —--
1) that it could consider the evidence of Mincr's prior
convictions only for impesachment purposes and 2) that it cculd
not consider the prior convictions as substantive evidence of
Mincr's guilt." 780 So. 2d at 79%. The Alabama Supreme Ccurt
agreed with Mincor, reasoning as follows:

"Minor did not at trial request a limiting
instructicn regarding the evidence of his prior
convictions and did not at trial obkject to the
court's failure to give such an instructicn.
However, this Court's review of a death-penalty case
allows us to address any plain errcor or defect found
in the proceeding under review, even 1f the error
was not brought to the attention ¢f the trial court.
Rule 3%9(a) (2) (D) and (k), Ala. R. App. P. ... Even
under the stringent standards applicable to plain-
error review, we conclude that the failure to
preperly instruct the jury in a capital-murder case
as to the proper use o¢of evidence regarding prior
convictions constitutes reversible error,

"When a defendant testifies at trial, the State

is entitled tc impeach the defendant's credibility
by introducing evidence of prior convictions. See
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Rule 609 (a) (1) (B}, Ala. R. Evid. In considering the
admissibility of prior convictions for impeachment
purposes, this Court has stated:

"'The high probability of prejudice against
a defendant makes the admissibility of his
previocus criminal convictions a
controversial issue.

"'This notion of prejudice has been
said to encompass two tendencies of juries:
1) The tendency Lo convict not because the
defendant is guilty of the charged offense,
but because evidence introduced shows he is
a bad person who should be incarcerated
regardless of his present guilt, and 2) the
tendency to infer that, Dbecause the
defendant c¢committed a prior crime, he
committed the c¢rime charged. Thus, a
defendant wishing to testify in his own
behalf faces this dilemma: Testify and run
the risk of greatly prejudicing his defense
by introduction of prior convicticns to
impeach, or refrain from testifying and
damage his defense by not telling his side
of the story.

"'The rationale for admitting
impeachment evidence when a defendant, or
any other witness, testifies 1s that
certalin evidence of prior criminal acts and
general character relates to a peéerson's
propensity to lie; therefore, the Jjury
sheculd have and use this evidence, but only
for the limited purpose of evaluating the
witness's veracity.'

"McIntosh v, State, 443 So. 2d 1283, 1285 (Ala.
1883) . (Citations omitted.) The law in Alzbama is
clear that 'evidence of prior criminal convictions
for impeachment purposes may not ke considered or
taken into account in determining a defendant's
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guilt of the offense for which he 1s prosecuted.'
King v. State, 521 So. 2d 1360, 1361 (Ala. Crim.
App. 1987) (quoting 81 Am. Jur. 2d Witnesses & 569
at 575 (1976)). Tt is well settled that when priocr
convictions are introduced for impeachment purposes
the defendant 1s entitled, upon reguest, Lo have Lhe
Jury instructed that those prior convictions cannot
be considered as substantive evidence of gullt of
the crime charced. King, supra. The issue in the
present case 1is whether, absent a reguest or an
objection by the defendant, the trial court has a
duty teo instruct the Jjury that evidence of prior
convictions 1s not to be considered as substantive
evidence of guilt. We hold that the trial court
does have such a duty in a capital-murder case.

"

"This Court has never addressed the guestion
whether a trial court has a duty Lo sua sponte
instruct the Jjury as to the limited purpose for
which 1t may consider evidence of pricr convictions.,
The Court of Criminal Appeals has held that the
trial court does not have a duty, sua sponte, to
inform the Jury that evidence of 1inconsistent
statements may be considered only for the purpose of
impeaching a witness's credibility. Varner v.
State, 497 So. 24 113% (Ala. Crim. App. 1986);
Weaver v. State, 466 So. 2d 1037 (Ala. Crim. App.
1985) . However, Varner and Weaver were not capital
cases, and the doctrine of plain-error review did
not apply. In addition, those cases do not contain
any holding or analysis with respect tc impeachment
by prior convictions. The Court of Criminal Appeals
held in Pardue v. State, 571 So. 2d 320, 327 (Ala.
Crim, App. 1989}, rev'd on other grounds, 571 So. 2d
3323 {(Ala. 1890), that defense counsel's failure to
request a limiting instruction or to object to the
trial court's failure to instruct the jury regarding
the defendant's pricr cenvictions waived the issue
for review. However, Pardue was not a capital case,
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and the doctrine of plain-error review did not
apply.

"The State argues that the CLrial court was not
regquired to give the jury a limiting instruction,
absent a reguest by Mincor, citing Charles W, Gamble,
McElroy's Alabama Evidence, § 165.01(2) (5th ed.
199%6) :

"'Once the accused has been impeached
by one ¢f the permissible impeachment
forms, the defense may want Lo take steps
to minimize c¢r offset the impact of the
impeachment., The accused 1s entitled to
have the jury instructed that such evidence
is to be considered only as affecting the
accused's credibility as a witness and not
as tending to show guilt. The court is not
required to give such an instruction unless
the accused requests that it be given.'

"However, this Court has acknowledged the
inherently prejudicial nature of evidence of a
defendant's prior convictions, Cofer v. State, 440

So. 2d 1121, 1124 (Ala. 1983) ('[e]vidence c¢f prior
bad acts of a criminal defendant 1s presumptively
prejudicial to the defendant'). 'The general

exclusionary rule bars the state from introducing
evidence of an accused's pricr criminal acts for the
sole purpose ¢f proving the propensity of the
accused to commit the charged offense.’ Hobbs v.
State, 669 So. 2d 1030, 1032 (Ala. Crim. App. 1995).
Thus, evidence of prior convicticons 1s admissible
only for limited purposes. 'The basis for the rule
lies 1in the belief that the prejudicial effect of
pricr crimes will far outwelgh any prcbatlive value
that might be galined from them. Most agree that
such evidence of pricr c¢rimes has almost an
irreversible impact upon the minds of the jurors.’
Cofer, 440 So. 2d at 1123 (gquoting Charles W,
Gamble, McElroy's Alabama Evidence § 69.01 (3d ed.
1877)). The general exclusicnary rule 'protects the
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defendant's right to a fair trial' by seeking '"to
prevent conviction based on a jury belief Lhat [Lhe]
accused is a perscn of bad character. The jury's
determination of guilt or innocence should be based
on evidence relevant to the crime charged."' Cofer,
440 So. 2d at 1123 (citation omitted). Thus, 1t
naturally follows that the trial court should take
all necessary precautions Lo ensure tLhat when
evidence of a defendant's prior convictions 1is
admitted into evidence, the Jury 1s properly
instructed on the purpose for which it may consider
that evidence. This includes instructing the jury,
sua sponte, that it may not consider the evidence of
pricor convictions as substantive evidence that the
defendant committed the charged offense.

"

"In the present case, the trial court gave this
vague Iinstructicen on the use of impeachment
evidence:

"'Now, evidence has been introduced in
this case feor the purpcese of impeaching
certaln witnesses and discrediting their
testimony.

"'The law allows witnesses Lo Dbe
impeached 1in any number of ways. For
example, a witness may be 1mpeached by
procf of convictions c¢f crimes involving
moral turpitude or a witness may be
impeached by contradictcery statements made
by the witness either on the stand while
testifying or at other times and other
places, whether under ocath or not.

"'But the fact that a witness has been
impeached and successfully impeached dces
not mean that you must necessarily
disregard that witness' testimony, either
in whole or in part, for there may be other
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facts and evidence or other testimony or
other evidence that in your Jjudgment may
tend to corrocborate either all or part of
that witness' testimony. And as I have
already told vou, vou are the sole and
exclusive Jjudges of the credibility of the
witnesses and the weight that vyou will
accord their testimony.'

"The trial court did neot tell the Jjury thal the
evidence of Minor's prior convictions could not be
considered as substantive evidence that he committed
the crime charged. Because the Jjurors were not so
instructed, they were free to consider the priocr
convictions for any purpose; thus, they cculd
consider the probability that Minor commlitted the
crime because he had demonstrated a prior criminal
tendency. Allowing the jury to make such use of the
evidence was highly prejudicial and constitutes
reversible error. See Randelph v, State, 348 So. 2d
858 (Ala. Crim. App. 1577) {conviction reversed
because the trial court failled to adeguately
distinguish between ilmpeachment evidence and
substantive evidence).

"The fallure Lo instruct a jury 1n a capital-
murder case as tce the proper use of evidence of
pricr convictions is error, and that error meets the
definition of 'plain error.' That failure is 'so
obvicus that [an appellate court's] failure to
notice 1t would seriously affect the fairness or
integrity of the judicial proceedings.' [Ex parte]
Womack, 435 So. 2d [766, 769 [(Ala. 1983)]. The
Court of Criminal Appeals determined CLhat CLhere was
no plain error because the trial court could have
'reasonably determined that ... defense counsel had
elicited Mincr's admission of the prior cconvictions
as part of trial strategy and did not want to call
additiconal attention to the evidence through an
instruction to the jury.’ 780 So. 2d at T73. We
disagree. Assuming the trial court did believe that
the fallure to regquest the instruction was a trial
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tactic, the trial court could have easily inguired
as Lo whether defense counsel wanted the instruction
given. Considering the presumptively prejudicial
nature of evidence of a defendant's priocr
convictions, we consider it incumbent on the trial
court te ensure that the jury was instructed on the
proper use of such evidence. We conclude that the
failure of the trial court to instruct the jury that
it could not wuse such evidence as substantive
evidence of guilt 'has or prebably has'
substantially prejudiced Mincor; thus, 1t satisfies
the plain-error standard. See Rule 39{(a) (2) (D) and
(ky, Ala. R. App. P.

"Furthermore, the prosecutor drew increased
attention to Minor's prior convictions through his

cross—examination. On c¢cross—-examination, Minor
provided detalls concerning each of the prior
convictions. He c¢laimed that the second-degreec

assaull charge was based on a shooting that was done
in self-defense; that the second-degree rape charge
was based on the statutory rape of a female who had
lied about her age; and that the drug-possession
charge was based on drugs that were not his, The
prosecutor used these elaborations to argue that
Mincer failed to take responsibility for his actions.
Specifically, after Minor testified that he had
pleaded guilty to possession of & contrelled
substance but that the drugs were not his, the
following colloquy occurred:

"'[Prosecutor]: So that was not ycur
drugs, either?

"'[Minor]l: No, 1t was not.

"'[Prosecutor]: And you did not kill
Ebious?

"' [Minor]: No, I did not kill
Ebicus.'
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"(R. 1259.) Thereafter, the prosecutor commented:
"Actually, Mr. Minor, you have gobL an explanatiocon
for everything to minimize vyour responsibility,
don't you?' Considering these statements in light
of '1l) J[t]lhe tendency [of Jjuries] to convict not
because tLhe defendant 1s guilty of the charged
offense, but because evidence introduced shows he is
a bad person who should be incarcerated regardless
of his present qguilt, and 2) the tendency [of
Jjuries] to infer that, because the defendant
committed a prior c¢rime, he committed the crime
charged, ' McIntosh, 443 So. 2d at 1285, we must
conclude that the trial court's failure to instruct
the jury that Minor's prior convictions could not be
used for those purposes constitutes a particularly
egregious error. Therefore, we reverse Lhe judgment
of the Court of Criminal Appreals and remand for that
court to c¢order & new trial.”

Ex parte Minor, 780 So. 2d at 7%9-804 (footnote omitted).

Shortly thereafter, in Ex parte Snyder, 893 S5o. 24 482,

485-87 (Ala. 2001), the Alabama Supreme Court limited its

holding in Ex parte Minor, reasoning as follows:

"This Court, in finding that plain error had
occurred in Ex parte Mincor, recognized that Mincr's
testimony was extremely damaging, that the need for
an lnstruction limiting the use of the evidence was
obvious, and that the failure Lo give tLhe
instruction was so prejudicial that it affected
Mincr's substantial rights., While the Ccurt found
plain error in the trial court's fallure to instruct
the Jjury on the purpose of the evidence of Minor's
prior conviction, the Ccurt's holding in that regard
did not establish a per se rule. BSee United States
v. Waldrip, 981 F.24d 799 (5th Cir. 1993) (clarifying
United States v. Diaz, 585 F.2d 116 (5th Cir. 1878},
and hclding that whether & fallure to instruct on
the limited use of prior-cenvicticn evidence was
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error was to be determined on a case-by-case basis).
Thus, each Inguiry regarding the propriety of an
instruction on the use of evidence of prior
convictions presented for impeachment purposes must
be determined on a case-by-case basis.

"In the present case, Snyder testified on direct
examination that he had pleaded guilty to second-
degree theft of property. AL the beginning cof the
state's cross-examination, the following occurred
with regard to that pricr conviction:

"'"[Prosecutor]: 0f course, vou said that
-- T believe vou said vou caught a case in
'87. Is that vyour wozxrd? You caught a
case. Is that what you said?

"'"[Snyder]: May have, yes, sir.
"'[Prosecutor]: That vou caught a case in

'87 and that case was theft of property?

"'[Snyder]l: Yes, sir.'
"(R. 3111.) The prosecutcor did not gquestion Snyder
further about this conviction, Nor did the
prosecutor emphasize Snyder's prior conviction
during his c¢losing argument. Thus, wunlike the

evidence in Ex parte Mincor, the evidence of Snyder's
prior conviction was presumptively prejudicial, but
its impact was not egregious.

"The state reguested that the tfrial ccurt give
the standard charge on the proper use of Snyder's
prior c¢onviction., The trial court instructed the
jury as follows:

"'Now, there has been some testimony
offered to the effect that a witness prior
to taking the witness stand during this
trial has been convicted of a crime. This
testimony 1s allowed to go fto vou for one
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purpose, and that is for yvour consideration
in determining what credibility vou will
give a witness's testimony from the witness
stand in this case. This is for your
consideration along with all the other
factors in determining whether a witness is
worthy of belief in what he says from the
witness stand.’

"(Emphasis added.)

"The Court of Criminal Appeals held that plain
error had occurred in Snyder's trial because the
trial court

"'did not specifically tell the jury that
it could not consider [Snyder's] prior
conviction as substantive evidence that he
committed Lthe capital offenses with which
he was charged. ... [Tlhe jury could have
concluded that [Snyder] committed the
charged offenses because he had previously
demonstrated a criminal tendency.'

"893 So. 24 at 447.

"In Ex parte Mincr, the Court was confronted
with a situaticn where the jury was not offered any
direction as to the purpose of the prior-conviction
evidence., We must now determine 1f the trial court
in this case erred by not specifically instructing
the Jury that it c¢could nct use pricr-conviction
evidence as 'substantive evidence of guilt.'

"It 1is well-settled law that, provided the
instructions accurately state the law, a trial court
has broad discretion in formulating its instructions

to the Jjury. Broadnax v. State, 82> S5o0. 2Z2d 134
(Ala. Crim. App. 2000). In Gaddy v. State, 698 3o0.
2d 1100, 1132-23 (Ala. Crim. App. 1895), aff'd, 698
So. 2d 1150 (Als. 1897}, Gaddy regquested an

instruction to the effect that evidence of prior
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convictions did not constitute evidence that he had
committed the charged crime. The requested charge
stated: '""T charge vyou that evidence of other
offenses than those charged in the indictment is not
to be considered as evidence of the truth of the
matters contained in the indictment."' 698 So. 2d
1132. The trial «court refused Lo 1issue the
instruction but issued the following instruction:

"I did not tell vyou when we
first talked that the prior
robbery conviction that Mr,
Gaddy has suffered subseguent tc
the ewvents in December here in
Birmingham 1s admitted for the
gole and limited purpose for you
to have at vyour disposal in
assessing his credibility as a

witness. The law provides 1f one
has suffered a conviction for an
offense inveolwving moral

turpitude, such as robbkery, then
these convictions may be called
to the juryv's attention. But it
is for the limited purpose fozx
you having that information at
your disposal 1in assessing his
trustworthiness."'

"698 S50, 2d at 1133, The Court of Criminal Appeals
concluded that that instruction properly informed
the jury as to the limited purpose of the evidence
of the prior c¢rimes -- credibility -- and that the
giving of that dinstruction wags not plain error.
This Court did not overrule Gaddy in its analysis in
Ex parte Minor. See alsc Johnson v. State, 292 Ala.
208, 291 So. 2d 336 (1874) (stating Lthat an
instruction on the limited use of +the evidence
satisfies any need to instruct the Jjury that the
evidence may not be used as evidence of the crime
charged} .
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"The holding in Gaddy is reasonable, sound, and
worthy of application to this case. Here, the trial
court properly instructed the jury as to the purpvose
of the evidence of Snyder's prior ccnviction. If an
instruction c¢learly informs the Jjury of the sole
purpcse of prior-conviction evidence -- the
witness's credibility -- 1t 1s reascnable to assume
that the jury would not use the evidence for any
other purpose. See, e.g., Taylor v. State, 666 So.
2d 36 (Ala. Crim. App. 1994}, aff'd, 666 So. 2d 73

(Ala. 1985y, cert. denied, 516 U.s. 1120
(19%¢) (recognizing that IJjurcrs are presumed to
follow 1instructions). Unlike the circumstances in
Ex parte Minor, where the jury could have used the
testimony for whatever purpose it desired -- to
determine a witness's credibility or as substantive
evidence of the defendant's guilt -- the trial court

in this c¢ase informed the Jury that the prior-
conviction evidence had 'one purpose' and that that
purpose was to determine credibility; consequently,
it eradicated the necessity of informing the Jjury
that i1t would be improper to use tLhe evidence as
substantive evidence of guilt. The unambiguous
instruction adeguately cautioned the jury,
explicitly stated Lhe sole purpose of the testimony,
and eliminated the risk that the evidence would be
used improperly. Therefcre, the emphasis 1in the
instruction on the one purpcse of the evidence
overcomes a finding that the alleged error 'has or
probakly has adversely affected the substantial
right of [Snyder].' Rule 45A, Ala. R. App. P. To
hold that the trial ccourt is reguired to inform the
jury that prier-conviction evidence c¢annot be used
as substantive evidence, would unnecessarily limit
the trial <court's discretion in forming Jury
instructions, would restrict defense counsel’'s trial

strategy, c¢f. United States wv. Barnes, 586 F.2d
1052, 1059 (5th Cir. 18378), and in certain
circumstances may unnecessarily emphasize the
prejudicial evidence. Therefore, while Lthe
instruction to the Jjury must state either that

prior-conviction evidence can be used only for the
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purpose oI assessing a witness's credibility or
state that such evidence may not be used as
substantive evidence of the defendant's guilt of the
crime charged, it is not reversible error per se 1if
the trial court does not instruct both as to the
admissible purpose of the prior-conviction evidence
and the purpose for which such evidence may not be
considered, unless c¢counsel reguests such a two-
pronged instruction and the instruction is supported
by the evidence.

"Under the facts presented here, the trial
court's iInstruction to the Jjury on the usse of the
evidence of Snyder's prior conviction was a correct
statement of the law; it did neot constitute plain
error. The Jjudgment of the Ccurt o¢f Criminal
Appeals is reversed and this cause is remanded to
that court for further review consistent with this
opinion.™

(Footnote omitted.)
Finally, both this court and the Alabama Supreme Court

have recognized that the decisions 1In Ex parte Mincor and Ex

parte Snyder are limited to those cases in which evidence

about pricr convictions is cffered for impeachment purposes.

See Johnson v. State, [Ms, 1041313, October 4, 2006] So.

3d (Ala., 2006); Ex parte Martin, 931 So. 2d 759 (Ala.

2004); Key v. State, 891 Sc. 2d 353 (Ala. Crim. App. 2002}.

In this case, the evidence about Riley's prior
convicticons was offered for Impsachment purpcses, as was the

situation in Ex parte Minor and Ex parte Snvyvder, rather than
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for other permissikble purposes, as was the situation in

Johnson, Ex parte Martin, and Key. Thus, we review the trial

court's failure to instruct the Jury on the proper use of
evidence about Riley's prior convictions in light of the

decisions in Ex parte Minor and Ex parte Snvder.

In this case, the trial ccourt did ncot instruct the jury
that the evidence about Riley's prior convictions could not be
considered as substantive evidence that he committed the crime

charged. See Ex parte Minor. It also did not instruct the

Jury that the prior convictions could be used solely for the

sole purpose of determining Riley's credibility. See Ex parte

Snyder. In fact, the trial court did not give the Jjury any
guidance as to the purposes for which evidence about Riley's
pricr convictions could or could not be used. Therefore, as

was the case in Ex parte Minor, the jury could have used the

testimony for whatever purpcese it desired —-- to determine
Riley's credibility or as substantive evidence of Riley's
guilt. Specifically, the jury could have improperly found
that Riley intended t¢ kill the victim because he had

demonstrated a prior criminal tendency.
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In this case, 1like in Ex parte Minor, the prosecutor

emphasized the evidence about Riley's prior convictions during
his cross—-examination of Riley. Subseguently, during his
rebuttal closing argument, the prosecutor specifically stated:

"We tried to help this guy. He said I'm in juvenile
court. Yeah, we tried to rehabilitate him., Didn'tLt
work. That's what's wrong with our system that
pecple criticize and you have the power and the
authority to do something about it, and you should.™

(R. 763-64) (emphasis added). As a general rule, juvenile

adjudications may not be used Lo impeach a defendant. See E

parte McCorvey, 686 So. 2d 425 (Ala. 1%96); Bone v. State, 706

So. 2d 1291 (Ala. Crim. App. 1997); Moore v. State, 333 So. 2d

165 (Ala. Crim. App. 1876}); Love v. State, 36 Ala. App. 593,

63 Sc. Z2d 285 (1953). With regard to impesachment by evidence
of conviction of a crime, Rule ©0%(d}, Ala. R. Evid., provides
that "l[e]vidence of Juvenile or yvouthful offender
adjudicaticons is not admissibkle under this rule.” Alsco, with
regard to juvenile court proceedings, % 12-15-72, Ala. Code
1975, provides:
"{a) An order of disposition or other
adjudicaticn 1in proceedings under subsectlion (a) of
Section 12-15%-30 shall not be considered to be a

conviction or impose any civil digakbilities
ordinarily resulting from a convicticn cof a crime or
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operate Lo disqgualify the child in any civil service
application or appointment.

"{b) The disposition of a child and evidence
given 1in a hearing 1in the court shall not be
admissible as evidence &against him in any <ase or
proceeding in any other ccocurt whether before or
after reaching majority, except in a dispocosition
hearing 1in a Jjuvenile <c¢ourt or in sentencing
proceedings after conviction of a c¢rime for the
purvecses of a presentence study and report.”

We recognize that, during cross-examination by the
prosecutor, Riley volunteered information about his prior
Juvenile adjudications and his being sent to boot camp. It
that were the only mention of the juvenile adjudications and
dispositions, we might find that he invited any error in that
regard. However, during his rebuttal closing argument, the
prosecutor specifically argued that the State of Alakama had
tried to helpy Riley and had tried tc rehabilitate him and that
it had not worked, thus implying that Riley was a bad person
and that he had intended to commit this offense because he was
a bad person. That is precisely what Rule 4609, Ala. R. Evid.,
forbids.

Based on the Alabama Supreme Court's decisions 1in Ex

parte Mincr and Ex parte Snvyvder, we conclude that the trial

court should have given the Jjury a limiting instruction
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regarding the proper use of evidence about Riley's prior
convictions. We cannot assume that the Jjury would have
understood, without instruction, that it could use evidence
about Riley's prior convictions only for 1mpeachment,
particularly after the prosecutor's rebuttal closing argument
and his inference that Riley was a bad person whe could not be
rehabilitated. Rather, we must conclude that, under these

circumstances, as was the case in Ex parte Minor, the evidence

about Riley's prior convictions was presumptively prejudicial
and 1its impact was egregious and that the trial court's
failure to instruct the Jjury regarding the proper use of
evidence about Riley's prior convictions rose to the level of
plain error. Accordingly, we reverse the trial court's
Judgment and remand this case Tfor proceedings that are
conslistent with this c¢pinicon.,

REVERSED AND REMANDED.

Welch, J., concurs. Kellum and Main, JJ., concur in the
result. Windom, J., dissents, with opinion.
WINDOM, JUDGE, dissenting.

I agree with the plurality's determination that the

circuit court erred by failing to instruct the jury that it
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could only consider Riley's prior convictions for impeachment

purposes. See Ex parte Mingor, 780 So. 2d 796 (Ala. 2000).

I also agree with the plurality's determination that the
prosecutor improperly utilized and commented on Riley's
juvenile adjudications. However, bhased on the overwhelming
evidence presented by the State and the nature of Riley's
defense, I disagree that these errocors rise to the level of
plain error. Rule 45A, Ala. R. App. P. Therefore, 1
respectfully dissent.

"The standard of review in reviewing a claim under the
plain-error doctrine 1s stricter than the standard used in
reviewing an issue that was properly raised in the trial court

or on appeal.” Hall v. State, 820 So. 24 113, 121-22 (Ala.

Crim. App. 199%). "'"To rise to the level of plain error, the

claimed error must not only sericusly affect a defendant's

'substantial rights,' but it must also have an unfair
prejudicial impact on the jury's deliberations."'" Ex parte

Brown, 11 So. 3d 933, 938 (Ala. 2008) (quoting Ex parte
Bryant, %51 So. 2d 724, 727 (Ala. 2002}, gquoting in turn Hyde
v. State, 778 So. 2d 189, 209 (Ala. Crim. App. 1998)). That

is, "'"[t]he plain-error excepltlion to the
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contemporaneous-chjection rule 1s to be "used sparingly,
solely 1in those circumstances 1in which a miscarriage of

justice would cotherwise result."'" LEx parte Brown, 11 So. 3d

at 938 (queoting United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 15 (1985),

quoting in turn United States v. Frady, 456 U.S. 152, 163, n.

14 (1982)). Although the "failure to object does not preclude
l[appellate] review 1n a capital case, 1t does welgh against

any c¢laim of prejudice.”™ Ex parte Kennedy, 472 So. Z2d 1106,

1111 (Ala. 1985).

In Ex parte Minor, LThe case primarily relied upon in the

main opinicn, the Alabama Supreme Court held that the circuit
court's failure to give an instruction limiting the Jjury's
consideration of Minor's prior convictions to impeachment
constituted plain error. 780 So. 2d 796, 802-04 (Ala. 2000).
Minor was charged with capital murder for causing the death of
his infant son, Ebicus. Id. at 787-98. At trial Minor
testified in his defense and "maintained that he did not kill
Ebious and that he did not strike Ebious in any way." Id. at
798, During his testimony, Minor was impeached with his pricr
"convictions for assault in the second degree, for possession

of cocaine, and for rape in the second degree." Id. At the

40



CR-06-1038

conclusion of the trial, the circult court did not instruct
the jury that it c¢could only consider Minor's prior convictions
for impeachment. Id.

The Alakama Supreme Court held that the circuit court
erred in failing to sua sponte instruct the jury that it could
only congider Mincr's prior convictions for impeachment
purposes. Speclifically, the Supreme Court stated:

"The trial court did not tell the Jjury that the
evidence of Minor's prior convictions ccoculd not be
considered as substantive evidence that he committed
the <¢rime charged. Because the jurors were not so
instructed, they were free to consider the priozx
convictions for any purpose; thus, they c¢could
consider the probability that Minor committed the
crime because he had demonstrated a prior criminal
tendency."

Id. at 803. The Supreme Court went on to hold that the
"presumptively prejudicial nature of evidence of a defendant's
prior convictions™ coupled with the possibility that the jury
considered Minor's prior convictions as substantive evidence
because 1t has not been given a limiting instruction

constituted plain error. Icd. at 804.

In Snyder v. State, 893 So. 2d 482, 485 (Als. 2001), the

Alabama Supreme Court explained that its decisicon in Ex parte

Minor did not create a per se rule requiring reversal when a
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limiting instruction was not given con Lthe use c¢cf evidence of
prior convictions. Instead, the failure teo give a limiting
instruction must be reviewed on a case-by-case basis. Ex

parte Martin, 931 So. 2d 759, 768 (Ala. 2004); Snvder, 893

So. 2d at 48%5; see alse Johnson v, State, [Ms, 1041313, Oct.

6, 2006] ___ So. 3d , (Ala. 2006) ("This Court in

Snyder limited the holding of Ex parte Minor by stating that

although the Court in Ex parte Minor found 'plain error in the

trial court's failure to instruct the jury on the purpose of
the evidence of Minor's pricr conviction, the Court's holding
in that regerd did not establish a per se rule' regarding such
evidence and that 'each inquiry regarding the propriety of an
instruction on the use o¢f evidence of pricr cconvicticns
presented for impeachment purposes must be determined on a
case-by-case basis. """} (gquoting sSnyder, 8%3 So. 2d at 485).
Applying a case-by-case analysis as mandated by the Alabama
Supreme Court, I must conclude that the c¢ircuit court's
failure to limit the jury's consideration of Riley's prior
convictions and the prosecutcor's comment did not constitute

plain error.
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As the plurality details, the evidence presented at trial
overwhelmingly estabklished Riley's guilt. First and most
damning, Riley's c¢rime was captured on the package-store
survelllance video. The video depicts Riley entering the
store and calmly robbing the store c¢lerk,. When a customer
enters the store, Riley calmly conceals his weapcon, allows the
customer to make &a purchase, then allows the customer to
leave. Once the customer is gone, Riley proceeded with the
robbery. He then forces the store clerk into a back room
outside the view of the surveillance camera.

Although the events that took place in the back room ¢f
the store cannot be seen on the video, they can be heard.

After Riley forces the clerk into the bkackroom, he fires a

shot and the c¢lerk c¢can bhe heard screaming in pain. After a
pause, Riley fires a second shot. After another pause, Riley
fires a third shot. Having just shot the clerk Lhree times,

Riley then calmly proceeds intco the main area of the store and
collects two videos from the store surveillance cameras. He
then calmly leaves the store with the proceeds of his robbery.

The State presented evidence indicating that the

semiautomatic pistol Riley used to shcoot the clerk
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malfunctioned. Specifically, Lthe weapon would nct properly
load & new cartridge into the chamber after the pistol had
been fired. Because of this defect, after firing a shot, the
shooter would have Lo manually manipulate the firearm Lo ready
it to fire the next shot. This evidence explained the pauses
between each of the three shots that c¢an be heard on the
survelillance video.

In addition to the surveillance video, Riley admitted to
robbing and to murdering the clerk. After the crime, Riley
admitted to Doug Sanderfer that he had robked and murdered the
clerk of the package store. Riley informed Sanderfer the he
had robbed the clerk at the package store and that during the
robbery a customer had entered the store. He informesd
Sanderfer that he had zllowed the customer to leave without
incident and then had shot the clerk three times.

The State also presented evidence of telephone
conversations Riley had while in jail awaiting trial. 1In one
conversaticn, Riley explained to his step-mother that "one
tape is what screwed everything up for him." Johnson, = So.

3d at . In other c¢onversations, Riley attempted +to

orchestrate getting his story straight with other individuals
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and attempted to relay a message to one c¢f tThe State's
witnesses tTo stop running her mouth.

Based on the overwhelming evidence of guilt, the
prosecutor's improper comment and the circuit court's failure
to instruct the jury regarding the purpose for which prior
convictions could be considered did not rise toc the level of

plain error. Rule 45A, Ala. R. App. P. See State v. Hebert,

158 N.H. 306, 317, 965 A.2d 105%, 1067 (200%) t(holding that
the failure to sua sponte instruct the jury regarding its use
of prior-conviction evidence was harmless in light of the

overwhelming evidence of guilt}); United States v. Cooper, 242

F.2d 1200, 1205 (7th Cir. 1991} (holding that the that the
failure to give a limiting instruction regarding the use of
the defendant's prior conviction was not plain error based cn
the overwhelming evidence establishing the defendant's guilt);

State v. Lair, 62 N.J. 388, 301 A.2d 748 (1273) (finding that

the failure to glive a limiting instruction regarding the use
of prior-conviction evidence did nct constitute plain error,
"bage[d] very largely upon the overwhelming nature ¢ the
testimony vpointing to defendant's guilt and the relative

insignificance of the testimonial references to his prior
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convictions"). With an ironclad case of guilt, I am convinced
beyvond a reasonable doubt that the result of the trial would

have been the same without the admission of the prior

convictions or without the prosecutor's comment. Ex parte
Price, 725 So. 2d 10632, 1072 (Ala. 1998} (holding that

because the State presented overwhelming evidence of guilt,
the erroneocous admission of evidence did not rise Lo the level

of plain error); Ivery v. State, 686 So. 2d 485, 507 (Ala.

Crim. App. 1996} (holding that a prosecutor's improper conduct
during his closing argument did not amount to plain error in
light of +the overwhelming evidence establishing guilt).
Accordingly, I disagree with the plurality's decision to
reverse Riley's conviction.

More importantly, in light of the defense Riley
presented, allowing the jury to consider his prior convictions
for purposes other +LThan impeachment and the prosecutor's
comment regarding the State's failure to rehakilitate Riley
did not affect Rilevy's substantial rights cr have an unfair

prejudicial impact on the jury's deliberations. Sse Ex parte

Brown, 11 So. 3d at 938. Riley admitted committing the

robbery and causing the clerk's death. He argued, however,
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that he did not intend Lo kill the c¢lerk. Specifically, Riley
testified that he was addicted to drugs, that he owed his drug
dealer money, and that he robbed the package-store clerk to
pay his drug dealer. Riley further asserted that he had
ingested drugs shortly bhefore the robbhery/murder, He then
testified that he was on drugs during the robbery and that the
first shot was an accident. According to Riley, after the
first accidental shot, he blacked out and dces not remember
shooting the clerk a second and a third time. Thus, Riley's
defense centered on his assertion that the first shot was an
accident and the second and third shots were the result of a
drug-induced blackout; therefore, he was guilty of felony
murder, not capital murder.

The fact that Riley had been convicted of theft and
burglary (two c¢rimes in which no one was injured) supported
his assertion that he was addicted Lo drugs, that he committed
the robkery to support his drug addiction, and that he did not

intend to kill anyone. See United States v. Rutherford, 3223

F. Supp. 2d 911, 914 (E.D. Wis. 2004) (recognizing that "drug

addiction and c¢rime go hand-in-hand"); People v. Miller, 233

Cal. App. 3d 1551, 1555, 285 Cal. Rptr. 410, 412 (13981)
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{"Narcotics addiction and crime go hand in hand. Addiction
breeds c¢crime."). Likewise, the prosecutor's comment that the
State had unsuccessfully attempted to rehabilitate Riley
supported Riley's asserticn that he was hopelessly addicted to
drugs. Because Riley's defense centered around his bad
character, 1i.e., drug addiction and willingness to commit non-
fatal crimes Lo support that addiction, allowing the jury Lo
consider his prior convictions for theft and kurglary (non-
fatal c¢rimes) and the prosecutor's comment regarding the
State's failed attempts at rehabilitation actually supported
Riley's defense. Therefore, the circuit court's failure to
limit the jury's considerations of this favorable evidence and
the prosecutor's comment did not sericusly affect Riley's
substantial rights, have an unfair prejudicial impact on the
jury's deliberaticns, or result in a miscarriage of justice,

Ex parte Brown, 11 So. 3d at 938.

Finally, as discussed above, Riley's defense relied on
his bad character, i.e., his drug addiction and  his
willingness to commit crimes to support that addicticn. Riley
established his bad character by admitting to the robbery and

alleging that the robbery was drug-related. The only gquestion
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Riley left for the jury to decide was whether he was guilty of
felony murder (unintentional murder} because the murder was
committed as a result of a drug-induced blackout or of capital

! Because Riley admitted

murder (intentional murder) .
committing the robbery, the unchecked admission of his pricr

convictions for theft and burglary did not have an unfair

impact on the jury's deliberations. Compare Hebert, 158 N.H.

at 317, 965 A.2d at 1067 (holding that the failure to instruct
the Jury regarding the limited purpose for which it could
consider pricr convictions was harmless when the defendant did
not deny invelvement in the offense and the jury was only
asked to decide between two versions of the same event), with

Ex parte Minor, 780 So. 2d at 802-04 (holding that the circuit

'Riley's allegation that he accidentally shot the clerk
once then klacked out and did not remembker anything else until
the next day was refuted by his own testimony. During his
testimony, the prosecutor asked Riley about the gun used in
the robhery/murder. (R. 713.) Specifically, the prosecutor
asked: "Isn't that the gun? You left that stores and took 1t
to —- after going to the tree house and gave 1t back to Dewcn
to hide it?" Riley responded that he "left 1t in Dewon's
hands out in the parking lot.” The prosecutor then asked: "At
his house, right?" Riley corrected the prosecutor and stated,
"Cut in the parking lot." (R. 713.) The fact that Riley was
acutely aware of the events that occurred in the parking lot
of the package store immediately after the robbery/murder
refutes his testimony that after the first shot, his mind went
blank and he does not remember anything.
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court's fallure to give a limiting instruction regarding prior
convictions c¢onstituted plain error 1n a g¢ase where the
defendant maintained that his did not strike his c¢child or

cause his child's death); cf. Barnes v. State, 727 So. 2d 829,

843 (Ala. Crim. App. 1998) (holding that the admission of
evidence indicating that the defendant in a capital murder
(murder/burglary) trial had unrelated cutstanding warrants for
burglary was not prejudicial bhecause the defendant admitted
committing the burglary, thus leaving the jury only to decide

between felony murder and caplital murder); Brown v. State, 11

So. 3d 866, 905-06 (Ala. Crim. App. 2007) (same). Therefore,
Riley has not established that the failure to give a limiting
instruction affected the outcome of his trial or constituted
plain error, Rule 45A, Ala. R. App. P.

With overwhelming evidence establishing Riley's guilt and
given the fact that the evidence and comments complained about
suppcrted Riley's defense, T do not helieve that the circuit
court's failure to i1nstruct the Jury regarding the prior
convictions wor the prosecutor's comment had an unfair
prejudicial impact on the jury's deliberation or resulted in

a manifest injustice. Ex parte Brown, 11 So. 3d at 938.
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Accordingly, Riley has failed toc establish plain error, and
his c¢conviction should be affirmed. Therefore, I respectfully

dissent.
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